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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
.
DONALD J. TRUMF and
WALTINE NAUTA,
Defendants.
/
INDICTYMENT
The Grand Jury charpes that:
GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

Al thses material to this Indictment, on or about the dates and approximate times stased

below.
Introduction

L Defendant DONALD J, TRUMP was the forty-filth President of the United States

of America. He beld office from January 20, 2017, watdl January 20, 2021, As peesident, TRUMP

had lawful access 10 $he most sensitive clasified documents and national defesse nfoemation

MMMW&WMMMMWMMMW
that comprise the United States Intelligence Commeunity and the Usited Sestex Department of

Dofense.
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2 Over e course of his presidency, TRUMP gathered acwspapers, press clippings,
letters, notes, cards, photographs, official documents, and other materials i cardboard boxes that
he kept in the White House. Among the materials TRUMP stoced in his boxes were hendrods of
classified docoments.

3. The clawified documents TRUMP stoeed in Ms boxes incloded infoemation
regarding defenss and woapons capabilities of both the United States and foeeign countries; United
States suclear programe; potential velnerabilitics of the United States and its allios to military
amack; and plans for possible retalistion in respomse to & foreign attack.  The unauthorized
disclosare of these classifiod documents could pet at risk the national security of the United States,
foreign relations, the safety of the Usited States military, and human sources aad the continued
viability of semdtive stelligence collection methods.

4, At 12:00 pm. oo Jasuary 20, 2021, TRUMP ceasad %0 be president. As he departed
the White House, TRUMP comed scores of baxes, many of which contained classified documents,
to be transported %0 The Mar-a-Lago Club in Palm Beach, Florida, where he maintained his
residence. TRUMP was not suthorized %0 possess or retain those classified documents.

5. The Mar-a-Lago Chab wes an active social club, which, between Janwary 2021 and
Augest 2022, hosted events for tens of thowsssds of members and guests.  After TRUMP's
previdency, The Mar-a-Lago Club was not an authecired locaticn for the sorage, possession,
rovigw, display, or discussion of classified documents. Nevertheless, TRUMP stored ks boxes
containing classified docements in various Jocations #t The Mar-a-Lago Club—including in a
ballroom, a bathroom and shower, an office space, his bedroom, and » storage room.

6. On two occasions in 2021, TRUMP showed classified documents 1o ofhery, a8
follows:
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L Ia July 2021, at Trump National Golf Club in Bodminstor, New Jersey
(“The Bodminster Club”™), dering an andio-recorded moeting with a writer,
a publisher, and two members of his staff, sone of whoes possessed a
security clearance, TRUMP showed and described a “plan of attack™ tha
TRUMP said was peepared for him by the Department of Defonse sad a
scior military officlel. TRUMP told the individuals that the plan was
“Righly confidential™ and “seceet ™ TRUMP also said, “as president I could
have declassifiod it,™ and, “Now | can'y, you kaow, bt this is still & secret™

b. In Asgust o September 2021, at The Badminster Club, TRUMP sbowed a
reprosentative of his political action commitiee who did not possess a
secwity chearance a classified map related o a military operation and told

the repeescatative that he shoudd not be showing it 10 the represensative and
that the represcatative should ot get 100 close.

7. On March 30, 2022, the Foderal Buresu of Iavestigation (“FBI™) opened a criminal
investigation o the uslanfil retention of classified documents at The Mar-a-Lago Club. A

federal grand jury invostigation bogam the mext month, The grand jury issued a2 subpocea requiring
TRUMP to turn over all documenss with ¢lassification markings, TRUMP endeavored to obstruct
the FBI and grand jury investigations and conceal his contimued retention of classified documents

by, among other things:

s suggesting that his anomey falsely represent 1o the FBI and grand Jury thae
TRUMP did ot have docements called for by the grand jury subpoens;

b directing defeadant WALTINE NAUTA 10 move boxes of documents %0
conceal them from TRUMP's attoency, the FBI, and the grand jury;

<. suggesting that his antoeney hide or destroy documents called for by the
praad jury ssbpocna,

4 providiag to the FBI and grand jury just some of the documents called for
:y“umjuyummmuumwm

e cousing a certification to be submitted %o the FBI and grand jury falsoly
repeescating that all documents called for by the grand jury subpoena had
been peoduced—while ksowing Bat, in fact, not all such documents had
boen produced.
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8 As 3 result of TRUMP's retention of ¢lassified documents alter his presidency and
rofusal to retern hom, husdreds of clamified documents were not recoverad by the Unitod Suates
povernment until 2022, as follows:

a On Jarwary 17, nearly ooe year after TRUMP keft office, and after months
of demands by @ National Archives and Records Administration for

TRUMP 10 peovide all missing presidential records, TRUMP peovided
only 15 boxes, which contained 197 documents with classification

earkings.

b. On June 3, = response 10 & grand jury subpoona domanding the production
of all documents with classification markings, TRUMP's atiomey provided
o the FBI 38 moee docaments with classiflication markings.

0. On August & pursuant 10 a court-auhorized scarch warrant, the FBI
recovered from TRUMP's office and a storage roces at The Mar-a-Lago
Cleb 102 moee documents with classification markings.

IRUME’s Co-Conapirator

9. Defeadant NAUTA was a member of the United States Navy staticned as & valet
i the White House dering TRUMP's presidency. Begisning in Augest 2021, NAUTA becasme
an exocutive assistant in The Office of Domald J. Tremp and served as TRUMP's personal aide or
“body man.” NAUTA reported 1o TRUMP, worked closely with TRUMP, and traveled with
TRUMP.

The Mar-a-Laze Clab

10, The Mar-a-Lago Oled was located on Souh Ocenn Boulevaed in Palm Besch,
Florida, sad includod TRUMP s residence, moce than 25 guest rocens, two ballrocess, & spa, & gift
sore, exersise facilition, office space, and s cutdoce pool and patio. As of January 2021, The
Mar-a-Lago Cleb bad hundrods of ssembery and was staffed by moce than | 50 full-time, part-teme,
sad semporary cmployees.
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11, Between Jenuary 2021 sad Augest 2022, The Mar-s-Lago Club bosted moee than
150 social ovonts, including weddings, movie premicres, and fendraisers that together drew ters
of thowsands of guests.

12.  The United States Secret Scrvice (the “Secret Service™) provided protection
services 10 TRUMP aad his fassily after he left office, inchading at The Mara-Lago Club, but it
was not responsible for the protection of TRUMP's boxes or heir coments, TRUMP &d not
inform the Secret Scrvice that he was storing boxes containing ¢lassified docaments a8 The Mar-
aLago Club.

Classified Informacion

13, National security information was infoemation owned by, peoduced by, produced
for, and under the contral of the United States government. Pursuant to Executive Ovder 12958,
signed on Apeil 17, 1995, as smended by Executive Onder 13292 on March 25, 2003, sad
Execcutive Ovder 13526 on Decomber 29, 2009, national security information was classificd as
“TOP SECRET." "SECRET.," or "CONFIDENTIAL," as follows:

a Informasion was classified as TOP SECRET if the wnauthorized disclosure
of Gt isfoemation reasonably could be expected o cause exceptionally
grave damage % the national security that the original classification
auhority was able 10 identify or describe.

b. Information was classifiod 23 SECRET if the unauthorired disclosure of St
mformation reasomably could be expectod 10 cause serious damage o the
naticnal security that the original classification authority was able to
sdentify or describe.

c. Information was classified as CONFIDENTIAL if e smauthorized
disclosure of that information reasomably could be expected o cause
damage 10 the national security that the ceiginal classification suthority was
able %o identify or describe,
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14, The clamification marking “NOFORN™ sood for “Not Releasable 1o Foreign
Nationals™ and demoted that dissemination of that information was limited to United States
persons.

15,  Classified informaticn related %o inmtelligence sowrces, methods, and asalytical
processes was designated as Semsitive Compertmented Information (“SCI™). SCI was 10 be
procossed, sored, used, or dacussed s an sccredited Semitive Compertmentad Information
Facility ("SCIF™), and caly individuals with $he appropriate security clesrance and additional SCI
permissions were authoriced 10 bave accoss to such national security imformation,

16. When the vulnorability of, or $hreat 10, specific classified informatica was
exceptional, and the normal criteria for determining eligiblity for access to classified information
were insuflicient 1o protoct the information froes urauhorized diclosure, the United States could
estzblish Spocial Access Prograes ("SAPY”) w0 further protect the classified informaticn, The
mumber of these programs was 10 bo kept to an absolute minsmum and limiled to programs in
which the sumber of persons who ordinarily would have sccoss would be reasomably small and
commensurate with the objective of providing enhanced protection for the isformation involved.
Only Individuals with the appeopelate secwrity clearance and additicaal SAP permissions were
authortzed o have access o such sationsl security information, which was subject o enbanced
hasdling and storsge requaements.

17, Punsuant %o Fxecutive Order 13526, information classified at any level could be
Ewfolly accessed only by persons determined by an sppropriate United States povernment official
o be eligible for access to classified information and who had sigead an approved son-disclosure
sgreement, who received & socurity clearance, and who had a “necd-2o-know™ the classified
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informaticn, Afler Bis presidency, TRUMP was not sutborired 50 posscss of retsin claaificd
docaments,

18 Executive Order 13526 provided that a former president could obtain a waiver of
the "nood-to-know™ requirement, if the agency head or senior agoacy official of the agency that
criglaated the classifiod informaticn: (1) determined in writing that access was consistent with the
isterest of national security sed (2) 100k appeopeiste steps 10 peotect classified information from
snauthorized disclossee or compeomise sad cnvered Bat the information was safeguarded in a

The Executive Branch Departments and Ageacies Whose
Classified Documents TRUME Betained After His Presidensy

19.  As part of his official duties as president, TRUMP received intolligence briefings
from high-level United States govemment officials, including bricfings from the Disector of the
Ceztral Imelligence Agency, the Chalrman of the Jolnt Chiefs of Staff, senior White House
officials, mad a designatod bricfer. He regully received a collection of classified imelligence
from e Usited States Imelligence Community (“USICT) known ax the “President’s Dy Brief”

0.  The USIC's mision was to collect, analyze, and deliver forcign inelligence and
countermtellipence information %o Amenca’s keaders, including the presidont, policymakers, law
cofoccomont, and the military, so they could make sound decisions %o protect the United States.
The USIC consisted of United States executive branch departments and agencies responsidle for
the conduct of forelgn relations aad the peosection of national securky.

21, Afer N peesidency, TRUMP retained classified documents originated by, or
implicating the equities of, multiple USIC members and other executive beanch departments and

agencies, inchuding the followlag:



Case 9:23-cr-80101-AMC Document 3 Entered on FLSD Docket 06/08/2023 Page 8 of 49

s The Ceatral Istelligence Agency (“CIA™). CIA was respoasible for
providing inteliigence on foreign countries and global issues o he president
and other policymakers o help thern make sational security decisions,

b The Department of Defense ("Dol)™). Daol) was resposable for providing
the military forces nooded to detor war and ensure national security. Some
of the executive branch agencies comprising the USIC were within Do),

c. The National Security Agency, The Natiomal Security Agency was a
combat support agency within DolD and a member of the USIC respoasible
for foecign signals incelligence and cybersecurity. This incloded collecting,
procesxing, and disseminating 1o United States policymakens and military
systems;, peotecting national secwrity systems; and enabling computer
network operations.

d The Nationsl Geospatial lntelligence Agency. The National Geospatlal
Intelligence Agency was & combat support agency within Dol respoasible
for the exploitation and analysis of imagery, imagery intclligence, and
peospatial informaticn in support of the national security objectives of the
United States and the peospatial lntelligence requirements of DoD), the
Depastment of State, and other foderal agencics.

e, The Natiosal Reconnaissance Office. The National Recormalssance
Office was an ageacy within Dol resposaible for developing, scgquiring,
launching, sad operating space-besed surweillance and recosmaissance
systoms that collected and delivered intelfigonce o embance national
Securny.

f The Department of Energy. The Department of Energy was responsible
for madstaining a safe, secure, and effective nuclear deterrent to protect
sational security, including essuring the effectivencss of the United Sues

pucicar weapons stockpile without sucicar cxplosive festing.

g The Department of State and Bereau of Intelligence and Research. The
Department of State was resposaible for peotecting sad promoting United
States socurity, prosperity, and democratic values, Within $he Depertment
of State, the Buresu of Intelligence snd Roscarch was a member of the USIC
and responsible for providing imelligence to inform diplomacy and suppoet
United States diplossats,
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TRUMPF's Pablic Seatements on Classifiod Information
22. As a candidase for President of the United States, TRUMP made the following

public statemnents, among others, sbout ¢lassified information:

a On August 18, 2016, TRUMP stated, “In my administration I'm going ©
enforce all laws comceming the peotection of classified information, No one
will be above the law.”

b On Septemsber 6, 2016, TRUMP stated, “We also need to fight this bestle
by collecting tclligence and then peotecting, peotecting our classified
secrets. . . . Wo can't have somcone in the Oval Office who doesn't
wderstand the meaning of the word confidential or classified ™

<. On September 7, 2016, TRUMP stated, “[One of the first things we ssust
do is %0 enforce all chassification rules and 10 enforce all laws relating %o the
handling of classified information.™

d Om September 19, 2016, TRUMP stated, “We also nced the best protection
of classified information.™

e On November 3, 2016, TRUMP stated, “Service members here in North
Caroling have risked their lives %o acquire classified intelligence %o protect

our country.”
23, As President of the Usined States, om July 26, 2018, TRUMP issuod the following
satemmcet about ¢lassified isfoemation:

As the head of the executive branch and Comenander in Chief, | have
a unigueo, Cosstitutional respomsibility o protect the Nation's
classified information, including by controlling acoess %0 8. , . .
More beoadly, the issue of [a former executive beanch official’s)
socurity clearance ralses larger questions sbout the peactice of
former officials maintsining access % our Nation's most sensitive
socrets Jong after their time in Governmest has ended, Sech socess
& particularly inappropeiate when former officials have transitioned
o highly partsas positions and seck %0 use real or percoived
access o semsitive infoemation %0 validate thelr political attacks.
Any scoess granted o oue Nation's secrets should be in furtherance
of national, not persomal, imtorests,
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Mr . 3

24, In January 2021, as be was peeparing 1o leave the White Howse, TRUMP and his
White House suaff, imchading NAUTA, packed itoms, incloding some of TRUMP's boxes.
TRUMP was personally swvolved in this process. TRUMP caused his boxes, containing hundrods
of classifiod docussenss, 1o be treasportied from the White House 1o The Masa-Lago Club,

25, From January Seough March 15, 2021, some of TRUMP's boxes were stored in
he Mar-a-Lago Chd’s White and Gold Ballreom, in which evests and gatherings took place
TRUMPs boxes were for a time stacked on e ballroom's stage, as depécted in the photograph

below (redacted %0 obscure s Individual s sdeatity)

R ——
—
g —

o Yid”

S T

25, In March 2021, NAUTA and others moved some of TRUMP's boxes from the

White and Gold Ballroom %o the business cemer st The Mar-a-Lago Club
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27.  On Apdl 5, 2021, an employee of The Office of Donald J. Trump (“Trume
Employee 17) texted another employee of that office ("Tramp Employoe 27) to ask whether
TRUMP"s boxes could be moved out of the business center to make room for staff to use it as an
office. Trump Employee 2 replicd, “Weah!! Ok so potus specifically asked Walk for those boxes
10 be in e business cemter because they are his ‘papen.'™ Later that day, Trump Employee 1 aad
Trump Employee 2 exchanged the following text messages:

Tramp Employee 2:

We can definitely make #t woek & we move his
papers into the lake room?

Tremp Employee §:

There is still & lide roces in the shower where his
othor stuff is. Is it only his papers be cares abowt?
Theres some other stuff in there that are not papers,
Could than go to stocage? Or does he want everything
in there on property

Tremp Employee 2:
Yes « amything that's not the beautifel mind paper
boxes cas definiely go 10 storage. Want %o take a
look at the space sad start msoving tomoerow AM?
28 After e text exchange between Trump Employee | and Tremp Employee 2, in
April 2021, some of TRUMP's boxes were moved froms the busiaess center to a bathroom aad

shower in The Mar-a-Lago Club's Lake Room, & depicted i the photograph below.,
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29, In May 2021, TRUMP direcied that » storage room on B¢ ground foor of The
Mar-a-Lago Club (the "Storage Room™) be cleaned out 50 that 1 cosdd be used o store his boxes
The hallway leading to the Storage Room oould be reached from multiple ostside ontrances,
including one accessible from The Mar-a-Lago Club pool petio through a doorway that was often
kept open. The Sioeage Room was nesr e liguor supply closet, linen room, ook shop, and vanioes
other rooms,

30 On June 24, 2021, TRUMP s boxes that were ia the Lake Room were moved w0
the Storage Room, Afler the move, there were more thas 80 boxes in the Swoeage Room, s

depictind in the photographs below



Case 9:23-cr-80101-AMC Document 3 Entered on FLSD Docket 06/08/2023 Page 13 of 49

3L On December 7, 2021, NAUTA found soveral of TRUMP's boxes fallen and their

contents spilled onto the floor of the Storage Room, including s document marked “SECRETVREL

13
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TO USA, FVEY.” which denoted that the information in the document was relcasable only to the
Five Eyes imelligence allisace consisting of Australia, Canads, New Zealand, ®e United
Kingdom, and the United States, NAUTA textod Trump Employee 2, “I opened the door and
found this . " NAUTA also attached two photographs be took of the spill. Trump Employee 2
repliad, “Oh no ok no,” and *1I'm sorry potus had my phone.” Ome of the photographs NAUTA
texted 10 Tramp Employee 2 is deploted below with the visible classified infoemation redacted

TRUMPs unlawful retention of this Socument is charged in Count K of this [adiconent.

IRUME s Disclosures of Chassified Lnfoomation ie Private Mestings
52 In May 2021, TRUMP causod some of his boxes to be beogght %0 his summer
residence at The Bodminster Cleb, Like The Mara-Lago Cleb, afler TRUMF's presidency, The
Bedminster Club was not an authorized location for the storage, possession, review, dplay, or

discussion of classifed documents

14
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33, OnlJuly 21,2021, whea he was no Jooger president, TRUMP gave an iterview in
his office at The Bodminster Club 1o & writer and a publisher In connection with a then-forthcoming
book. Two membors of TRUMP's stafl also atiended the interview, which was recorded with
TRUMP's knowledge and consert, Befoee the interview, the media had published reports that, at
the end of TRUMP's term as president, a senior military official (the “Semior Military Official™)
preeporedly feared that TRUMP might order an attack oo Country A and that the Senior Military
Official sdvised TRUMP against doing so.

34, Upon greeting the writer, publisher, and his two staff members, TRUMP stated,
“Look what I found, this was [the Senior Military Official's] plas of sstack, read it and just show
.. it's intevesting.* Later in the interview, TRUMP engaged in the following exchange:

TRUMP:  Well with [$he Senior Miligary Official}—ub, let me
see that, I'll show you an example. Ho sald that |
wasted 10 sttack [Country A). [sa’t it amazing? |
have a big pile of papers, this Shing just came up,
Look. This was him. They presentod me this—his

is off the record, but—they presented me this. This
was him. This was e Defesse Deparntment and him,

WRITER: Wow.

TRUMP: We looked at some. This was him. This wasn't done

by me, this was him. All sorts of stuff—pages long.
lock.

STAFFER: Mm
TRUMP: Wait » minute, let"s so¢ here,
STAFFER:  [Lasghter] Yeah

TRUMP: [ just found, isn't that amazing? This sctally wiss my
case, you know,

STAFFER: Mm-bhe
TRUMP: Excepe it is like, highly confidential.

15
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STAYFER:  Yeah, [Lawghter]

TRUMP:  Sccret. This s secret sfoemation. Look, look at this.
You attack, snd—

“en

TRUMP: By the way. lsn't that incredible?

STAFFER: Yeah.

TRUMP: I was jeut thinking, because we were talking sbout it
Axd you know, be said, “he wanted o attack
[Country A), and what .. .~

STAFFER: Yeoudid

TRUMP:  This was done by the militacy and given 10 me, Uh,
| think we can peobably, right?

STAFFER: 1 don"t know, we'll, we'll have 1o see. Yeah, we'll
have to try fo—

TRUMP:  Declassify &

STAFFER: --figure out a—yesh,

TRUMP:  See as president [ could have doclassified it

STAFFER:  Yeah. [Loughter]

TRUMP;  Now | can’y, you know, but this is sl a secret.

STAFFER: Yesh. [Laughter] Now we have a problem.

TRUMP: L't that interesting?

At the time of this exchange, the writer, the publisher, snd TRUMP's two stafY members did not
have security clearances or any nood-to-know any classified information sbout a plas of stack ce
Cosntry A.

35, In August or Soptomber 2021, when he was no losger presidest, TRUMP met &
his office at The Bedminster Club with s representative of his political action coaumittee (the “PAC

16
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Representative™), Dering the meeting, TRUMP commented that an ongoing military oporstion in
Country B was ot going well, TRUMP stowed the PAC Representative a classified map of
Coustry B and told the PAC Ropresentative that he should not be showing the map o the PAC
Repeesentative and to not get %00 close. The PAC Repeesentative did not have & secerity cleasance
or azy need-to-know classified Information about the military operation.
36, On Februsry 16, 2017, four years before TRUMP's disclosares of classified

information set forth above, TRUMP said a2 & peess conference:

The fiest thing | $hought of when 1 heard sbout it i, Bow does the

press get this information that's classifed? How do they do 27 You

know why? Because it's an illegal process, and the pross should be

sshamed of Sesmclves. Bt more importantly, the people that gave

out the information % the pross should be sabamed of themselves.

Really ashamod.

TRUMPs Production of 15 Cardboard Boxes to the
National Archives and Records Adminkstration

3. Beginning in May 2021, the National Archives sad Recoeds Administration
(“NARA"), which was responsible for archiving presidential recands, repeatedly demanded S
TRUMP wra over peesidential recoeds that he had kept after his prosidency, On multiple
occasions, Boginning & June, NARA warned TRUMP through his representatives tat if he did
mot comply, it would refer the matier of the missieg records 10 the Deparament of Justice.

38 Between November 2021 and Jasuary 2022, NAUTA ad Trump Employee 2--at
TRUMP's direction—Srought boxes fross the Stocage Rootn to TRUMP's residence for TRUMP
%0 review.

9. OnNovember 12, 2021, Trump Employee 2 provided TRUMP a photograph of his
boxes in the Storage Room by Saping it 10 cmc of the boxes that Trume Employee 2 had placed in
TRUMP's rosidonce. Trump Employee 2 provided TRUMP the photograph so that TRUMP

17
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could see bow many of his boxes were stored in the Storage Roces. The photograph, shown delow,

depicted a wall of the Storage Room against which dosens of TRUMP's boxes were stacked.

&0 Oa November 17, 2021, NAUTA sexted Trump Employee 2 about the photograph
Trump Employee 2 had peovided w» TRUMP, stating, “He mentionad about a pecture of the
‘baxes’ he wants me 10 so¢ i7" Trump Employee 2 replied, “Calling you shortdy.™
4] On November 25, 2021, Trump Employee 2 texted NAUTA shout TRUMP's
review of the coments of his boxes, asking, “Has he mentioned boxes %0 you? | delivered some,
but 1 think be may need more. Could you ask if he'd like more in pine hall™ Pae Hall was an
ennry rooms in TRUMP s residence. NAUTA replied in three succossive text mossagos:
Nothing about boxes yet
He bas one he's working on in pinc ball

Kaocked out 2 boxes yesterday
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42, OnNovember 29, 2021, Tremp Employee 2 texsed NAUTA, asking, “Next you are
on peoperty (0o rush) could you belp me brisg 4 more boxes sp™" NAUTA replied, “Yes!! Of
iy

43, On December 29, 2021, Tramp Employee 2 texted 8 TRUMP repeesentative who

was in comtact with NARA (“Trump Representative 17), “box amswer willl be wrenched out of him
oday, promise™ The next day, Trump Repeesentative | replied i two successive text messages:
Hey - Just checking on Boxes...
would love 10 have a sumber 1o them today
Trump Employee 2 spoke to TRUMP and then responded a few hours ater im two successive text
messages:
12
Is his number
4. On Jamwary 13, 2022, NAUTA texted Trump Employec 2 sbowt TRUMP's
“rracking™ of boxes, stating, “He's tracking the boxes, more 1o follow today on whether be wants
1o go through meee today or tomomrow.” Trump Employee 2 replied, “Thask you!™
45.  On Jesusry 15, 2022, NAUTA sent Trump Employee 2 four soccessive text
messages:
One thing be asked
Was for new covers for the boxes, foe Monday m.
Moming

*can we pget new box covers Before giving Shese 10 them oo
Monday? They have o mch writing on them ] msarked 100 much

Tremp Employee 2 replied, “Yes, 1 will get that™

19
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46, On Jangary 17, 2022, Tramp Employee 2 and NAUTA gathered 15 boxes from
TRUMP's residence, koaded the boxes in NAUTA's car, and took them 20 a commercial trock foe

delivery 1o NARA.

47.  When interviewed by the FBI in May 2022 reganding the location and movement
of boxes before the production to NARA, NAUTA made false and misicading statements as set
forth in Coumt 38 of this Indictmen, ischading:

a falscly stating that he was not aware of TRUMP's boxes being beought 10
TRUMP's residence for his review before TRUMP provided 15 boxes o
NARA i January 2022;

b. falsoly stating et he did not know how the boxes that be and Tremp
Employee 2 brought from TRUMPs residence 1o the commersial truck for
delivery 10 NARA on Jamsary 17, 2022, had gomen to the residence; snd

c. when asked whether he knew where TRUMPs boxes had been stoeed
before they were in TRUMP's residence and whether thoy had been in a
scure or locked location, NAUTA falsely responded, “1 wish, | wish |
could toll you. [ don't know. [ don"t—] honcatly just don't know.™

48 When @c 15 boxes that TRUMP bad peovided resched NARA in Januery 2022,
NARA roviowed the contents and determined Sat 14 of the boxes contsised documents with
classification markings. Specifically, as the FBI later determined, the baxes contained 197
documents with classification markings, of which 98 were marked “SECRET," 30 wore marked
“TOP SECRET,"” and the remalnder were marked “CONFIDENTIAL" Some of those documents
also contained SCI and SAP markings.

49.  On February 9, 2022, NARA referred the dscovery of classified docements in
TRUMP's boxes 1 the Depestment of Justice for isvestigation.

The FELand Grand Jury Invsstigations
S0, Os March 30, 2022, the FBI opened a ceiminal investigation.
S, Om April 26, 2022, a federal grand jury opened an Investigation.

0
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Ihe Defcodants” Conscnlment of Hoxes

52, On May 11, 2022, the grand jury lssued a sobpoena (the “May |1 Subpoena®™) to
The Office of Donald J, Tremp requiring the production of all documents with classification
markings in the possession, custody, or control of TRUMP e The Office of Dosald J. Trump.
Two atioeneys representing TRUMP (“Trump Attormey 17 snd “Trump Attorsey 27) informed
TRUMP of the May 11 Subpoena, and be suthorized Trump Attomey | %0 accopt service.

$3.  On May 22, 2022, NAUTA enered the Storage Room at 3:47 pm. and left
spproximately 34 minutes laler, carrying one of TRUMP's baxes.

54. On May 23, 2022, TRUMP met with Trump Ancency 1 and Trump Attomey 2 at
The Mar-a-Lago Club to discuss the response %o the May 11 Subpocna. Trump Atlomey | and
Trump Attomey 2 told TRUMP that they needied 10 search for documents that would be responsive
to e subpoens and provide a certification that there had been complisace with the subpoena.
TRUMP, i sum and substance, made the following statements, among others, as memorialized
by Trump Atomey 1:

a I don't wast anybody looking, | don't west anybody locking through my
boxes, [ really don™t, 1 don't want you looking through my boxes,

b Well what if we, what happens if we just don't respond at sl or don't play
ball with them?

<. Woeddn't it be better if we just told them we doa't have anything beve?
4 Well look Isn't it better if Share are no documents?
55, While meeting with Trump Attorney | and Trump Attormcy 2 on May 23, TRUMP,
in sum and substance, told the following story, as memecialined by Trump Aorney |:

[Attornay ], he was grost, be did a great job, You know what? He
said, be said that it ~ that it was him. That he was the one who
dedered all of her emalls, the 30,000 emails, because they basically
dealt with her scheduling and her going 10 the gym and her having
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beauty appointments. And he was great. And be, 5o she didn"t get
in sy trouble because he sald that he was the one who deleted them,

TRUMP related the story more than omce that day.

56, OnMay 23, TRUMP also confirmed his understanding with Trump Ancency | that
Trump Attomey | would retuen 10 The Mar-a-Lago Cleb on Jene 2 to search for any documents
with classification markings %o produce is respoase o the May |1 Scbpoena. Trump Atiomey 1°
made it cloar 10 TRUMP that Trump Attomey | would condect the search for responsive
documents by looking through TRUMP's boxes that had been trassported from the White House
and remained in storage at The Mar-a-Lago Club. TRUMP indicated that he wanted 1o be at The
Mar-a-Lago Clab whea Tramp Amorsey | returned to review his boxes on June 2. and $hat
TRUMP would change his sumesser travel plass to do so. TRUMP told Trump Atoeney 2 that
Tremp Attormey 2 did not neod 10 be present foe the review of boxes.

§7.  Aftier meeting with Trump Attomney | sad Teump Attorsey 2 ca May 23, TRUMP
delayed bis departure from The Mar-a-Lago Clib 10 The Bedminwer Club for the sumsser so that
be would be peesent at The Mar-a-Lago Club ca June 2, when Trump Attomey | returmed to review
the boxes,

S8 Betwees TRUMP's May 23 mseeting with Tremp Attomey | and Trump Attomey
2 10 discuss he May 11 Scbpoesa, and June 2, when Trump Attiomney | retumed to The Mar-a-
Lago Club to review the boxes in the Storage Roces, NAUTA removed—at TRUMP s direction—
a total of appeoximately 64 boxes from $e Storage Rooes and brought them 10 TRUMP's
residence, as set forth below:

a On May 24, 2022, betweoen 5:30 p.o. snd 5:38 paa NAUTA removed three
boxes from the Storage Reom.
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b On May 30, 2022, #1 908 a.m., TRUMP and NAUTA spoke by phone for
spproximately 30 seconds. Between 1042 asm. and 11:5]1 am,, NAUTA
removed 2 total of spproximately S0 boxes from the Storage Reom.

<. On May 30, 2022, st 12:33 pom., a Trump family member textod NAUTA:

Good aflemocn Walk,
Happy Memorial Day!

| saw you pet boxes 10 Potus room, Just FYT and 1
will tell him as well:
Not sure how many he wants to take on Friday on the
planc. We will NOT have & roces for them. Plase will
bo full with luggage.
Thank you!

NAUTA repliod:

Good Afernoon Ma"am [Smiley Face Essofi]
Thank you so mech.

1 think be wanted to pick from Sess. [ don™t imagioe
him wantiag 10 take the boxes.

He wid me o put them in the room and that he was
going to talk 1o you about them,

d On Juse 1, 2022, beginning at 12252 p.m, NAUTA ressoved appeoimaely
11 boxes from the Storage Room.,

$9.  On June 1, 2002, TRUMP spoke with Trussp Amoency | by phone and asked
whether Trump Attorney | was coming to The Mear-a-1ago Chab the next day sad for exactly whas
purpose. Trump Attorney | remindod TRUMP that Tremp Amorney | was going 10 review the
boxes that had been transported from the White House and remained in storage at The Mas-a-Lago
Club 3o that Tremp Anomey 1 could have a custodian of records certify that the May 11 ssbpoces
haud been compiiod with fully.
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6. On Juse 2, 2022, the day that Trump Amcency | was scheduled %0 review
TRUMP's baxes in the Storage Room, TRUMP spoke with NAUTA ca the phone at 29 am.
for spproximately 24 seconds.

6).  Later that day, between 12:33 pm. and 12:52 pan, NAUTA and s employee of
The Mar-a-Lago Cleb moved spproximately 30 boxes from TRUMP's residence %o the Storage
Room.

62. In sam, betwoen May 23, 2022, and June 2, 2022, befoce Trump Attomey 1's
review of TRUMP's boxes in the Storage Room, NAUTA—at TRUMP's direction—moved
approxismately 64 boxes froes the Storage Room 1o TRUMPs residence and brought %o the Storage
Room only approximately 30 boxes. Neither TRUMP noe NAUTA informed Tramp Attorney |
of this information.

The Fabe Certification fo the FBI and the Grand Jury

63. On the afiernoon of Jene 2, 2022, as TRUMP bad boen informed, Trump
Attormey | srived at The Mar-a-Lago Club w review TRUMP's boxes w0 Jook for docements
with classification markings in response 10 e May 11 Sulpoens. TRUMP met with Trump
Amoeney | befoee Trump Atorney | conduected the roview, NAUTA excorted Trusp Amoency |
1o the Siorage Rooes.

64,  Between 3353 pas and 623 pan, Trump Attomey | roviewed the contents of
TRUMP's baxes in the Swesge Room. Trump Atiormey | located 38 documents with
classification markings isside the boxes, which Trump Attomey | removed and placed in »
Redweld folder, Trump Atlamey 1 contactod NAUTA and asked him to bring clear duct tage o
the Storage Room, which NAUTA did. Tremp Atomey | wsed the cloar duct tape %o seal the
Redweld folder with the documsears with classification markings inside.

=
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65. After Trump Asoeney | finished scaling the Redweld folder contsising the
documents with classification markings that be had found inside TRUMP's boxes, NAUTA took
Tremp Attomey 1 to a dining rooe in The Mar-a-Lago Cleb %o meet with TRUMP. Afier Tremp
Attomey | confirmod that he was finishod with s search of the Storage Room, TRUMP asked,
“Did you find any@ing? , . . I it bad? Good?™

66.  TRUMP and Tremp Attomey | then discussed what 1o do with the Redweld folder
containing documents with classification markings and whether Trump Attorney | should bring
them %0 his hotel room sad put them in a safe there. During that conversation, TRUMP made a
phucking motion, & memorialized by Trump Atlomey 1:

He made a funsy moticn ax though ~ well olxy why doa’™t you take
them with you 10 your hotel room and if there™s amything really bad
in there, like, you know, phack it out. And that was the motion that
he made. He didn’t say thet,

67.  That evening, Trump Astorney | contacted the Department of Justice and requested
that an FBI agent meet him 2t The Mara-Lago Club the next day, June 3, so that he could tumn
over the documernts respossive to the May 11 Subpoena.

68, Al thai cvening, Trump Ancency | contacted ancther TRUMP attomey (“Trump
Attorney 3”) and askod her if she would come 10 The Mar-a-Lago Club the sext moming 1o act as
a custodion of records and sign a certification regarding e scarch for documents with
classification markings in respoase to the May || Subpoena. Trump Attorney 3, who had no role
i the review of TRUMP"s boxes in the Storage Room, agreed.

69.  The pext day, oo June 3, 2022, st Trump Asioeney 1's requost, Trump Amomney }
signed a certification as the castodian of recoeds for The Office of Donald J. Trump and ook it %o
The Mar-a-Lago Club 10 provide it to the Department of Justice and FBI. In the certification,

Trump Amcency 3-—who performed no search of TRUMP's boxes, had not reviewed the May 11
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Subpoena, and had not reviewed B¢ coatents of the Rodweld folder—stated, among other things,

that *[blased spon the information that [had) been peovided 0™ her:

n “A &ligont scarch was conducted of the boxes that were moved from the
White Houso to Florda™;

b, “This scarch was conducted afler receipt of the subpoena, in order o locate
any and all documents that are respoasive 10 Be subpoena™, and

c. “Any and all respomsive documents sccompary this certification.”™

0. These statements were false because, among other reasons, TRUMP had directed
NAUTA to move boxes before Tramp Attorsey |78 June 2 review, 50 that ssany boxes weee not
searched and many documents rosponsive 10 the May 11 Subpocaa could not be found—and in
fact were not found by Tremp Attomey 1.

71.  Shordly after Trump Atiomey 3 executed the false certification, on June 3, 2022,
Trump Atceney | snd Trump Attomey 3 met at The Mar-a-Lago Cleb with personnel from the
Department of Justice snd FBI, Trump Attorey | end Trump Amceney 3 turned over the Redweld
folder containing docements with classification markings, a5 well as the false certification signed
by Trump Astorney 3 as custodian of records. TRUMP, who had delayed bis departure from The
Mar-a-Lago Club, joined Trump Attorsey | and Trump Amorney 3 for some of the mesting,
TRUMP claizned 1o the Department of Justice and FBI that be was “an open book.™

72, Earlier that same day, NAUTA mad others loaded several of TRUMP's boxes akong
with other itcass 0n sirceafl Bt flew TRUMP and bis family north for the summer.

The Court-Authorized Search ol The Mar-a-Laze Club

73 InJuly 2022, the FBI and grand jury obtained and reviewed surveillance video from

The Mar-s-Lago Club showing the movement of boxes set forth above.
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4. OnAugest &, 2002, the FBI executed a court-authorined soarch warrant s The Mar-
a-Lago Cled. The scarch warrant authoeizod the FBI 1o search for and seize, among other things,
all documents wirh classification markisgs.

75.  Dering Be exccution of the waeraet at The Mar-a-Lago Club, the FBI selred 102
documents with classification markings i TRUMP's office and the Stoeage Rocen, a3 follows:

| Number of Classification
LAeatien . Docustents
Top Secret (6)
TRUMP's Office 27 Secret (18)
Coalidential (3)
Top Secret (11)
Storage Room 75 Secret (36)
| Confidential (28)
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COUNTS 131
Willfel Retention of National Defease Information

(18 US.C. § 793¢)

76,  The Genersl Allegations of this Indictment are re-alieged and fully incorporased
here by reference,

77,  On or showt the danes set forth in the table below, in Palm Beach County, in e
Southern District of Florida, and chsowhere, the defendant,

DONALD J, TRUMP,

having unauthoeized possessica of, access 10, and coatrol over documents relating 1o the national
defense, &d willfully retain the docussents aad fll 10 deliver them to the officer and essployee of
the United States entitiod 10 receive them, that is—TRUMP, without suthocization, retained a2
The Mar-a-Lago Club documents relating to the national defesac, including the following:

Count Date of Offense / Chassification Marking / Document Description
January 20, 2021 - August 8, 2022
TOP SECRETI/NOFPORN/VSPECIAL HANDLING

Document dated May 3, 2018, coaceming White House intelfigonce briefing related
to various forelgn countries

January 20, 2021 - August §, 2022
TOP SECRETVSLYNOFORNOSPECIAL HANDLING

Document dated May 9, 2018, conceming White House inteligence briefing related
10 various foreign countries

January 20, 2021 - Asgust §, 2022
TOP SECRETHSI/NOFORNOFISA

UMWMmllh;ymplNﬂﬂuoleMydﬂn
United States, with haadwritien annctaticn (n black marker

e S ——
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Jasuary 20, 2021 — Augest 8, 2022
TOP SECRETOSPECIAL HANDLING

Document dated May 6, 2019, concerning White Howse wtelligence briefing reated
to forelgn countries, including military activities and planning of foreign countries

January 20, 2021 ~ August 8, 2022

s TOP SECRET/redacted ) [redacted ) 'ORCON/NOFORN

Docement dated June 2020 conceming nuclear capabiiities of a foreign country
Jenuary 20, 2021 ~ August 8, 2022

TOP SECRETUSPECIAL HANDLING

Docement dated Juse 4, 2020, conceming White House intelligence beiefing related
o various forcign countrics

Jaouary 20, 2021 - August B, 2022
SECRET/NOFORN

Document dated October 21, 201 8, conceming commusications with & leader of 3
foreign country

January 20, 2021 ~ August §, 2022
SECRETVREL TO USA, FVEY

Document dated October 4, 2019, conceming military capabiiities of a forelgn
coustry

January 20, 2021 - Asgust 8, 2022
9 TOP SECRET/\{redacted )| redactad JVORCONNOFORN/FISA
Undated document concerning military smacks by a foceign coentry
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January 20, 2021 - Asgust 8, 2022

TOP SECRET/TEK/NOFORN

Document dated November 2017 conceming military capabilities of a foreign
coustry

Jarcary 20, 2021 ~ August 8, 2022

No sarking

Undated document concerning military contingency plasning of the Usited States

12

Jasaey 20, 2021 ~ August 8, 2022

SECRET/VREL TO USA, FVEY

Pages of uadated docussent conceming projected regional militacy capabilitios of a
forcign coustry and the United States

13

Jarssacy 20, 2021 — Augest 8, 2022

TOP SECRET/SUTK/NOFORN

Undated document conceming military capabilities of a foreign country and the
Undted States

14

January 20, 2021 ~ August 8, 2022

SECRETVORCONNOFORN

Docament dated January 2020 concerning miizary options of a foreign country and
potential effects ca United States intereas

s

Janvary 20, 2021 — August &, 2022

SECRETVORCON/NOFORN

Document dated February 2020 concerning poficles in a foreign counary
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16

January 20, 2021 ~ Asgust 8, 2022

SECRETNORCON/NOFORN

Document dated December 2019 conceming forelgn country suppoet of terrorist acts
against Uniled States imtorosts

17

Janwary 20, 2021 - Asguwt £, 2022

TOP SECRETMredacted ) TKRAORCONTMCONNOFORN

Document dated Jansary 2020 concaming military capabilities of a foreign country

- -

19

Jarsary 20, 2021 - Asgust ¥, 2002

SECRET/NOFORN

Dosument dated March 2020 conceming military operations against United States
forces and others

Jancary 20, 2021 - August 8, 2002

SECRET/FORMERLY RESTRICTED DATA

Undated document concerning nuclesr weaponry of the Unlted States

Jarssary 20, 2021 « August 8, 2022

TOP SECRET! [redactedJ/ORCONNOFORN

Undsted documment concemning timeline and desalls of attack i » foeeign country

21

Jazusacy 20, 2021 — Augest 8, 2022

SECRETANOFORN

Usndated document conceming military capeblliities of forelgn countries

Jeauary 20, 2021 - Jene 3, 2022

108 SECRETredacsed ) RSENORCON/NOFORN

Docement dated August 2019 concorning regional military activity of a foeeign
country

3
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Jarvaary 20, 2021 « June 3, 2002
TOP SECRETVSPECIAL HANDLING

Document dsted August 30, 2019, comceming White House intelligence briefing
related 1o various foecign countrics, with Raadwritien annctation in black marker

Jarsary 20, 2021 - June 3, 2022

24 TOP SECRETAHCS-PSINORCON-USGOVINOFORN

Undated document concernimg military activity of a foreign country
Jarrsary 20, 2021 ~ Jure 3, 2002

TOP SECRET/HCS-PSUORCON-USGOV/NOFORN

25
Document dated October 24, 2019, concerning military activity of foroign countries
and the Usnined States
Jarnary 20, 2021 ~ Juse 3, 2002

26 TOP SECRET/redacted VORCONNOFORNFISA

Docussers dated November 7, 2019, conceming military activity of foeeign
countries and the Unitod States

Jarssacy 20, 2021 — Jume 3, 2022

27 TOP SECRETOSVTRKAONOFORN

Document dated November 2019 conceming military activity of forcign countries
Jeauacy 20, 2021 - Jene 3, 2022

TOP SECRET/SPECIAL HANDLING

Docement dated Ociober 18, 2019, comceming White House intelligence bricfing
related to various foreign countries
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Jeuary 20, 2021 - Jene 3, 2022

TOP SECRET/[redacted ) SUTKOVORCONNOFORN

Document dated October 18, 2019, concenning seilinary capabilities of & foceign
country

M”.Ml-h’.m

TOP SECRET/[redacted ) ORCONNOFORNFISA

Document dated October 15, 2019, concerning military activity in a foecign cosntry

3

Junuary 20, 2021 - Jume 3, 2022

TOP SECRET/SUTUNOFORN

Document dated Febevary 2017 conceming milisary activity of a foeeign country

All in vickation of Tithe |18, United States Code, Section 79Xe).
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COUNT S
Comspirsey 10 Obstraet Justice
(IS US.C. § 1512(k))
78 The Genersl Allegations of this InScement are re-alleped mad fully incorporated
here by reference.
The Conspiracy and its Objects
7. From on or shout May 11, 2022, through in or around Augest 2022, in Palm Beach
County, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defondants,

DONALD J. TRUMP and
WALTINE NAUTA,

&id knowisgly combine, conspire, confedernte, and agree with cach other and with others known
and unknown 10 the grasd jury, 10 engage in misleading conduct toward ancther person and
corruptly persuade another porson 10 withhold 2 recoed, document, sad other object from an official
proceading, in viclation of 18 US.C. § 1512(6)2XA) snd 10 comuptly conceal a recoed,
document, and other object from an official peoceeding, i viclstion of 18 US.C. § 1512(cX 1)
Ihe Purpose of the Conspirasy

80,  The purpose of the conmspiracy was foe TRUMP 10 keep classifiod documnents be

had tken with Risn fhoes the Whine Howse sad 10 hide and conceal thess from a federal prand jery.
The Manner and Meass of the Conapiracy

$l.  The mamner and means by which the defendants sought 10 accomplish the objects

and purpose of the conspiracy included, among other things, e following:

a Suggesting that Trump Attormey 1 falsely reprosent to the FBI and grand
Jury that TRUMP did not have documents called for by the May 11

Subpoena;

b moving boxes of documents %0 conceal them from Trump Attomey |, the
FBI, and the grand jury;
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<. suggosting that Trump Attomey | hide or destroy documents called for by
the May 11 Subpoena;

d providing to the FBI and grand jury just soese of the documents called for
by the May 11 Subpoena, while TRUMP claimed be was cooperating fully;

< cousing & fale certification 1o be submamed to the FB1 sad grand jery
reproscating that all docements with classification markimgs had boen
prodoced, when &= fact they had not; and

£ making false sad misleading statements %o the FBIL.

All in violation of Tithe 18, United States Code, Section 1512(k).



Case 9:23-cr-80101-AMC Document 3 Entered on FLSD Docket 06/08/2023 Page 36 of 49

COUNT 33
Withholding 2 Docement or Record
(18 US.C, §3 1512(5)20A), 2)
8L  The General Allcgations of this Indictment aee re-alieged and fully incorporated
bere by reference.
E).  From on or about May 11, 2022, through in or sround August 2022, in Palm Beach
County, in the Southern District of Floeida, and elsewhere, the defendants,

DONALD J. TRUMP asd
WALTINE NAUTA,

did keowingly cagage in mislkeading ccaduct toward ssother persoes, and knowingly coeruptly
porvuade mad atempt 10 peruade another person, with intern! 1o cause and induce any porsom %o
withbold a record, document, snd other object from an official proceeding: that is—(1) TRUMP
attempied to persuade Trump Atiomey | 1o hide and conceal documents from a federal grand jury:
and (2) TRUMP and NAUTA misled Trump Asmoeney | by moving boxes that coatained
documents with classification merkisgs so that Trump Attomey | would not find the docussenss
sed prodice tem W & federal grand jury.
All in violation of Titke 18, United States Code, Sections 1SI2(B)X2XA) and 2,
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COUNT 34
Correptly Concealiag 3 Document or Record
(18 US.C 88 1512(cx1), 2)
84, The General Allegations of this Indictment ace re-alleged and fully incorporated
here by reference.
85.  From oo or about May 11, 2022, through in or around August 2022, in Palm Beach
Courty, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defeadants,

DONALD J. TRUMP sad
WALTINE NAUTA,

did corruptly concead 3 record, document, and other object, and attempied 10 do 30, with the internt
to impair the object’s integrity and availability for use in an official proceeding: that is—TRUMP
and NAUTA hid and concealed boxes that comtained documents with classification markings from
Trump Attomey 1 so that Trump Attomey | would not find the documents and prodece them %o a
federal grand jory.

Al i violation of Title 18, Usited Sues Code, Sections 1512(c)(1) and 2.
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COUNT 35
Concenling » Document in a Foderal Investigation
(IS USC. $51519.2)

86.  The General Allegaticns of this Indictment are re-alleged and fully incocporated
here by reference.

87.  From oo ce about May 11, 2022, dhrough In or arcund August 2022, in Palm Beach
County, im the Souhern District of Florida, and clsewhere, the defendsnts,

DONALD J, TRUMP and
WALTINE NAUTA,

&id knowingly conceal, cover up, falsify, and make a false catry in any record, document, and
tangible object with the intont to impede, cbstruct, and influence the investigation and proper
admisistration of any matter within te jurisdictica of 2 deparment and agency of the United
States, mnd in redation to and costemplation of sny sach matter; that ks—during a federal criminal
investigation being condected by the FBI, (1) TRUMP and NAUTA 14, conccaled, and covered
wp from e FBI TRUMP's continued possession of documents with classification markings at
The Mar-a-Lago Club; and (2) TRUMP caused a false certification to be submittod to the FBI.
All in viclation of Title 18, Usited States Code, Sections 1519 and 2

8
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COUNT 36
Schomse to Conceal
(1S US.C 85 1001 (a)1) 2)
85,  The General Allegations of this Indictment are re-alicged and fully incorporated
here by reference.
£9.  From om or sbowt May 11, 2022, through in or around August 2022, i Palm Beach
County, in te Scuthern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,

DONALD J. TRUMP and
WALTINE NAUTA,

= & matter within the jirisdiction of the jadicial Beanch and exccutive beanch of the United States

government, & knowingly and willfilly falsify, conceal, and cover up by any trick, scheme, and

device a matorial fact: that is—dwing a foderad grand jery investigation and a federal criminal

investigation being conducted by the FBI, TRUMP and NAUTA hid and consealed from the grand

Jury end the FBI TRUMP's ccatinued possession of documents with classification markings.
All i violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1001(a)1) and 2.
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COUNT ST
Falswe Statements and Represeatations
(I8 US.C. 65 1001(a)}2) 2)

920 The General Allegations of this InSciment see re-alleged sad fully incorporated
bere by reference.

91.  Om or abowt June 3, 2022, in Palm Beach County, in the Southern District of
Florida, and elsewhere, the defendant,

DONALD J. TRUMP,

in & mamser withis the jurisdiction of the judiclal beanch and executive beanch of the United States
goversment, &4 knowisgly and willfully ssake and cause 1o be made a materially false, fictiious,
and fraudulent statement and repeesentation; that is—dwring a federal grand jury investigation snd
a foderal criminal investigation being condected by the FBI, TRUMP caused e following false
statemnents and represeatations to be made 1o the grand jury and the FBI in a swoen certification
executed by Trump Asceney 3:

[ “A diligent seasch was conducted of the boxes that were
moved from the White House %0 Florida™,

b. “This search was conducted afier recelpt of e subpocna, in
order to locate any and all documents that sre respoasive 10

the subpoena™; and

c “Any sad all respossive documents sccompany this
U“ﬁ. Il'ill“

92,  The satements and representations set foeth above were false, as TRUMP inew,
because TRUMP had directed that baxes be removed from the Storage Room befoee Trump
Anceney | condocted the June 2, 2022 scarch for docements with classification markings, so that
Trump Attomey 1's search would not and did net inclode all of TRUMP's boxes that were
removed from e White House, Tramp Attomey 1's seasch would not and d&id noe Jocate all
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documents responsive to the May 11 Subpoena; and all responsive documents were not provided
w e FBI and the grand jury with the certification. In face, after June 3, 2022, more than 100
documents with clasification markings remainad at The Mar-a-Lago Club ueti] the FBI search on
Awgust &, 2022,

All = violation of Title I8, United States Code, Sections 100]1(a)2) and 2,

4l
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False Statements and
(13 US.C. § 1001(a)2))

93, The General Allegations of this Indicesest are re-alleged and fully incorporated
hore by reference.

9. On May 26, 2022, NAUTA participated in & voluntary interview with the FBI,
During the interview, the FBI explained 10 NAUTA that the FBI was investigatiog how classified
documents had been kept a1 The Mar-a-Lago Club, and e FBI asked NAUTA questicas sbout
Be Jocation sad movessest of TRUMP's boxes before TRUMP peovided 15 baxes to NARA on
Jarsary 17, 2022, NAUTA was repeesentod by counsel, and e FRI advised NAUTA that &
istorview was volentary and that bo could lcave at any time, The FBI alwo advised NAUTA that
it was a criminal offense to lie to the FBL. The imterview was recorded.

95.  On or showt May 26, 2022, in Palm Beach Comnty, in the Southern District of
Fleeida, and elsewhere, the defendant,

WALTINE NAUTA,
i 2 matter within the juris@ction of the exccutive Beanch of the Usited States govermnment, did
knowingly and willfelly make s materially false, fctiious, and [modelent statement and
reprosertation; that is—in a volutary inmterview dering » fodoral criminal mvestigation being
conducted by the FBI, NAUTA was akod the following questions and gave the Sollowing falss
answers

Question:  Does any ~ are you awwre of any boxes being brought
o his Bome - his sube?
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E

All right. So, %0 10 $e best of your knowledge,
you're saying that those boxes that you brought cato
Be truck, first thme you ever lald eyes on them was
oot the day of when [Trump Empiloyee 2] nceded
YOu to—

PoT
%
f

Pl
4-
3
E
:

Question And what—s0, 30 you caly saw the 15 boxes, 15,17
boxes—

Anywer: Mm-hm.

Question: withe day of the move? Even—they just showed up
that day?

Answer: They were in Piae Hall. [Trump Employee 2] just

43
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Question: So, you didn't know-had no idea how they got there
before?

Asswer: No,

9. The undorscored statlements and reprosentations above were fallse, as NAUTA
knew, becawse (1) NAUTA did in fact know that the boxes in Pine Hall had come from the Storage
Room, es NAUTA hmsell, with e assisaance of Trump Employee 2, Bad moved the boxes from
B Storsge Reom m Pise Hall; and (2) NAUTA had cbscrved the Baxes in sad moved them 1o
vaziom locations ot The Mar-a-Lago Club,

All in viclation of Title 15, United States Code, Section 1001(aX2)

A TRUE BILL

FORFPERSON

WIAL COUNSEL
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA CASE NO.:

V.

Donaid J. Tremp and

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CERTIFICATE OF TRIAL ATTORNEY

Waltise Nosta,
/ wmm—m
Diedendarss. New Defendani(s) (Yes oe No) No
Court Division (sclect cnc) Number of New Defeadants
OMiami  [OXey West OFTP Total aumber of courrs T
OFm B wrB
ldobeubyoemfym-.

2

5.

10.
1.

13
14,

15

I have carefully comshderad the aliegations of the indicament, the sumber of defendants, the number of peobadle
witnesses and the legal complexities of the Indicanest/Information attached ereto,

I ame aware that the nformation suppiied on fils stadement will be reliod upom by the Judges of this Court In setting
thelr calendars aad schoduling criminad trials uader the mandate of B¢ Spoady Trial Act, Titke 28USC, 43161,

Intecpretee: (Yes or No) No
List language asd'or

Thiss case will ke _ =) days foe the parties 1o try.

Please check sppropriate category and type of offease Eatod below:

{Check only coc) (Chock cely one)
I O 0w Sdan O Peury
O 680 l0duys O Minor
m O w20 days D Misdemeanor
v El21 w60 days Bl Felomy

VvV 061 days and over

Has this case boen previcusly flled in this District Court? (Yes or No)No___
If yeu, Judge Case No.
Has a complaint been flied i this matier? (Yes or No) No

If yos, Magistrate Case No.
Does this case relate 1 & previously flled matter in this District Court? (Yes or No) No

If yos, Judge Case No,
Defendany(s) & foderal cusody s of
Dedfendant(s) i state custody as of
Rude 20 from the ________ Ditrict of
Is this a potential death penalty case? (Yes or No) No

Does this case originate from a matier pending i the Noethern Region of the US. Anomey's Office
peior 10 August 8, 2014 (Mag. Judge Shanick Maysard? (Yes or No) No

Does this case originate from & matier pesding & the Central Reghon of the US. Attomey’s Office
peior 1o October 3, 2019 (Mag. Judge Jared Strauss? (Yes or No) No

Did this matier Imvolve the participation of of consaitation with now Magistrate Judge Eduardo |. Sanchex
during his senure at the U.S. Amoeney's Office, which concluded on Jaauacy 22, 20237 No

By

Jay L.
Special Comnsel
Court ID No. AS502946
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET
Defondant's Name: _ Donald ). Tnep
Case No:
Counts #: 1-31

* Max. Term of Imprisonment: 10 years

* Masdatory Min. Term of Imprisonmsent (if applicable): N'A
* Max. Supervised Refease: 3 years

* Max. Fine: $250.000

Coum #; 32
Conspi On Justice, 18 U.S.C. § 15120k)

* Max. Term of Imprisenment: 20 years

* Mandatory Mia. Term of lmprisonment (if applicable): NJA
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 years

* Max. Fise: $250,000

Count #:13

* Max. Term of Imprisoament: 20 years

* Mandatery Min. Term of Imprisoament (if applicable): N/A
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 years

* Max. Fine: $250 000

*Refers oaly to possible term of incarceration, supervised release sad fSacs. It does not include
restitution, special assessmonts, parcle terms, or forfeltures that may be applicable.
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Count #: 34

Coguptly Concealing n Document or Resord, 13 US.C. § 1512(cK1)

* Max, Term of lmprisonment: 20 yoars

* Mandatory Min, Term of Imprisonment (if applicable); N/A
* Max, Supervised Release: 3 years

* Max. Fine: $250,000

Coum #; 35
Concealing 2 Document in a Foderal [nvestigation, 13 US.C. § 13519

* Max. Term of Imprisonment: 20 years

* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (i applicable): NJA
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 yoars

* Max. Fime: $250,000

Scheme 1o Concsal, 18 US.C. § 1001 (aX1)

* Max Term of Imprisonment: S years

* Mandatory Mia. Term of Imprisenment (if applicable): N/A
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 years

* Max. Fime: $250,000

Coumt ¥:37

* Max Term of Imprisoament: S years

* Mandatery Min. Term of Imprisonment (If applicable)c N/A
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 years

* Max. Fine: $250.000

*Refers saly to posaible term of incarceration, supervised release and fines. It does sot inchade
restitation, special ssessments, parcle terms, or forfettures that may be applicabde.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Defendant's Name: Waltine Nauta
Case No:
Count #: 32

Congsi ot Justice, 18 US.C. § 15120k

* Max. Term of Imprisoament: 20 yeary

* Mandatery Min. Term of Imprisosment (if applicable): N/A
* Max. Sspervised Release: 3 years

* Max. Fine: $250.000

Count #; 33

Withholding a L Record. 18 US.C. § 15120)2

* Max, Torm of lmprisonment: 20 yoars

* Mandatory Min, Torm of Imprisonment (if applicable): N/A
* Max, Supervised Release: 3 years

* Max. Fine: $250.000

Coumt ¥: 34

* Max, Term of Imprisonment: 20 years

* Masdatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable): N/A
* Max. Supervised Relexse: 3 years

* Max. Fine: $250,000

Coumt #: 35

* Max. Term of Imprissament: 20 years

* Mandatory Mia. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable): NA
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 years

* Max. Fime: $250,000

*Refers oaly 10 possidle term of incarceration, supervised release and fines. 1t does not lnchade
restitution, special msessments, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable,
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Coum #:; 36
Scheme to Concead 18 US.C. § 1001 (aX1)

‘Mu.'l‘emoﬂ-pduams

* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable): NVA
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 years
* Max. Fime: $250,000

Coum #: 1%

* Max. Term of Imprisonment: 5 years

* Mandatory Min. Term of lmprisonment (if applicable): N/A
* Max Supervised Release: 3 years

* Max Fise: $250.000

*Refers enly to possible term of inearcerntion, supervised release and fines. 1t does sot Include
restitation, spocial sscssesents, parcle terms, or forfeitures that may be applicabde.



